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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

The directors present this statement to the member of the Bank together with the audited
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

[n our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 7 to 96 are drawn up so as to give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2023, the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the financial
year ended on that date, in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore
Companies Act 1967 (“the Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore
(“FRSs"); and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Bank
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial
statements for issue.

Directors
The directors of the Bank in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Andrew Lee Kok Keng, Chairman (appointed on 1 January 2024)
Lai Teck Poh

Jason Moo Yi Sin (appointed on 17 July 2023)

Na Wu Beng

Helen Wong Pik Kuen

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Bank a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the
Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Bank or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed in this statement.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the directors holding office at the end
of the financial year had interests in shares in the Bank and its related corporations, as
follows:

Direct interest Deemed interestt!
At 1.1.2023/ At 1.1.2023/
At Date of At Date of

31.12.2023 appointment 31.12.2023 appointment

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Ordinary shares

Lai Teck Poh 1,037,412 1,037,412 - -
Kenneth Mark Lai Chin Kui @ 192,132 100,934 - -
Jason Moo Yi Sin @ 22,506 22,506 - -
Na Wu Beng 310,927 155,689 B -
Helen Wang Pik Kuen 441,608 262,431 - -

Options to acquire ordinary shares
under the OCBC Share Option

Scheme 2001
Kenneth Mark Lai Chin Kui @ 87,029 87,029 - =
Na Wu Beng 574,111 647,706 - -

Rights to acquire ordinary shares
granted under the OCBC
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Kenneth Mark Lai Chin Kui @ 4,369 6,090 - -

Unvested ordinary shares under the
OCBC Deferred Share Plan

Kenneth Mark Lai Chin Kui @ 253,617 256,917 - -
Jason Moo Yi Sin @ 46,033 44,606 - =
Na Wu Beng 59,774 137,740 - -
Helen Wong Pik Kuen 578,330 434,713 - -
O Ordinary shares held by spouse.

@ Kenneth Mark Lai Chin Kui resigned from the Board of Directors on 1 January 2024.

@ Jason Moo Yi Sin appointed to the Board of Directors on 17 July 2023.

Save as disclosed above, no director holding office at the end of the financial year had any
interest in shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any of its related corporations either at
the beginning of the financial year, date of appointment, or at the end of the financial year.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Share options

The Bank did not issue any options on its shares during the financial year, and there were
no unissued shares of the Bank under options at the end of the financial year.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as
the auditor of the Bank at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Bank.

On%hehalf of the Board of Directors,

L
Helen Wong Pik Kuen Jason Moo Yi Sin
Director Director
Singapore

1 February 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of Bank of Singapore Limited (“the
Bank”) are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967
("the Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (‘FRSs") so as lo give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2023 and of the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the financial year
ended on that date.

What we have audited

The financial statements of the Bank comprise:

o the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year then ended;

e the balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

e the statement of changes in equity for the financial year then ended;

» the statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended; and

= the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors’ Statement and MAS Notice 608 Supplementary Information included on page 97

but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED (continued)

Other Information (continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit
the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
sO.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Bank
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Prawedtrhamloopems L

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 1 February 2024
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Net fee and commission income
Net trading income

Other income

Non-interest income

Total income before operating expenses

Staff costs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit before allowance and

amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets
Write-back/(Loss) allowances

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Note

(o))

12
18

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000
1,762,833 735,500
(1,186,637)  (328,920)
576,196 406,580
282,894 325,127
201,144 205,480
4,351 2,339
488,389 532,946
1,064,585 939,526
(441,933)  (403,129)
(30,223) (37,241)
(175,388)  (166,448)
(647,544)  (606,818)
417,041 332,708
(5,898) (5,898)
3,481 (49,556)
414,624 277,254
(57,249) (40,272)
236,982

357,375

The accbmpanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
uUs$’000 US$'000

Profit for the year 357,375 236,982
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Net gain/(loss) on debt investments at FVOCI, net of tax 4,087 (2,787)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Defined benefit plan remeasurements (499) 263
Net gain on equity investments at FVOCI, net of tax - 5,000

3,588 2,476
Total comprehensive income for the year 360,963 239,458
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022

Us$’000 UsS$'000
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 15 137,921 155,965
Balances and placements with and loans to banks 16 203,221 301,597
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 17 14,589,767 18,209,253
Amount due from holding company 20,288,946 17,147,069
Amount due from related companies 5,121 7,297
Derivative financial instruments 29 568,277 698,881
Other investments 20 656,086 770,795
Other assets 21 1,149,370 1,381,529
Subsidiaries 13 27,387 27,614
Property, plant and equipment 10 152,563 116,629
Intangible assets 12 17,202 23,100
Goodwill 11 167,764 167,764
Total assets 37,963,625 39,007,493
Liabilities
Deposits of non-bank customers 32,649,616 32,925,483
Deposits and balances of banks 28,211 29,247
Amount due to holding company 871,241 1,816,736
Amount due to related companies 28,825 26,205
Derivative financial instruments 29 689,894 680,490
Other liabilities 24 1,432,706 1,507,071
Current tax payable 54,600 44 972
Deferred tax liabilities, net 23 6,091 6,205
Total liabilities 35,761,184 37,036,409
Equity attributable to equity holder of the Bank
Share capital 22 996,377 996,377
Other equity instruments 22 200,000 200,000
Other reserves 22 8,422 4,834
Retained earnings 997,642 769,873
Total equity 2,202,441 1,971,084
Total equity and liabilities 37,963,625 39,007,493
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Share
capital and
other equity Other Retained Total
instruments reserves earnings equity
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'o000
At 1 January 2023 1,196,377 4,834 769,873 1,971,084
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 357,375 357,375
Other comprehensive income
Net gain on debt investments at FVOCI - 4,087 - 4,087
Defined benefit plan remeasurements - (499) = (499)
Total other comprehensive income - 3,688 - 3,588
Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,588 357,375 360,963
Transfer to/(from) Regulatory Loss
Allowance Reserve - - - -
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Distributions to holder of perpetual capital
securities - - (9,606) (9,606)
Dividend to equity holder - - (120,000) (120,000)
Total transactions with owners - - (129,606) (129,606)
At 31 December 2023 1,196,377 8,422 997,642 2,202 441
At 1 January 2022 1,196,377 (642) 829,497 2,025,232
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 236,982 236,982
Other comprehensive income
Net loss on debt investments at FVOC! - (2,787) - (2,787)
Defined benefit plan remeasurements - 263 - 263
Net gain on equity investments at FVOCI - - 5,000 5,000
Total other comprehensive income - (2,524) 5,000 2,476
Total comprehensive income for the year - (2,524) 241,982 239,458
Transfer to/(from) Regulatory Loss
Allowance Reserve - 8,000 (8.000) -
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Digtributions to holdor of perpetual capital
securities u - (9,608) (9,606)
Dividend to equity holder - B (284.000) (284.000)
Total transactions with owners - - (293,606) (293,606)
At 31 December 2022 1,196,377 4,834 769,873 1,971,084

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 357,375 236,982
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 30,223 37,241
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 5,898 5,898
Write-back/(Loss) allowances 18 (3,481) 49,556
Interest expense on lease liabilities 24 3,093 1,143
Expenses recognised in respect of defined benefit
obligations 26(ii) 225 235
Share-based compensation expense 25 659 843
Dividend income (1,602) -
Unrealised exchange difference (644) (811)
Income tax expense 9 57,249 40,272
448,995 371,359
Changes in operating assets:
Cash and balances with central banks 18,044 (37,182)
Balances and placements with and loans to banks 82,860 217,251
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 3,622,850 3,499,481
Amount due from holding company (3,139,582) (7,318,988)
Amounts due from related companies 2,176 (4,059)
Other investments 118,796 (10,617)
Other assets 232,159 (10,176)
Derivative financial instruments 130,604 (20,164)
1,067,907 (3,684,454)
Changes in operating liabilities:
Amount due to holding company (945,495) 48,184
Amounts due to related companies 2,620 2,358
Derivative financial instruments 9,404 33,475
Deposits of non-bank customers (275,867) 3,419,627
Deposits and balances of banks (1,036) 26,337
Other liabilities (95,280) 21,623
(1,305,654) 3,551,604
Cash from operating activities 211,248 238,509
Income taxes paid (47,727) (42,983)
Net cash provided by operating activities 163,521 195,526
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 (38,590) (25,693)
Proceeds from the disposal of a subsidiary 227 -
Dividend income received 1,602 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment - 13
Net cash used in investing activities (36,761) (25,680)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
11
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022
uUs$’000 US$'000
Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid 22 (120,000) (284,000)
Distributions to holders of perpetual capital

securities 22 (9,606) (9,606)
Repayments of lease liabilities 24 (10,492) (15,695)
Net cash used in financing activities (140,098) (309,301)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (13,338) (139,455)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 205,916 345,371
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 192,578 205,916

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Balances and placements with and loans to banks 16 185,896 201,529
Amount due from holding company 19 6,682 4,387
192,578 205,916

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying financial statements.

2.1

General information

Bank of Singapore Limited (“the Bank”) is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore.
The address of the Bank’s registered office is 63 Chulia Street, #10-00 OCBC
Centre East, Singapore 049514,

The financial statements of the Bank as at and for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 comprise the Bank’s Singapore operations, its representative office
and its overseas branches.

The Bank is principally engaged in business of banking and wealth management.
The ultimate and immediate holding company of the Bank is Oversea-Chinese
Banking Corporation Limited (“OCBC”), a company that is incorporated and
domiciled in Singapore.

Material accounting policies information

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) under the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s
accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2023

On 1 January 2023, the Bank has adopted the new or amended FRS and
Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are mandatory for application for the
financial year. Changes to the Bank’s accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and
INT FRS.

13
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2.1

2.2

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2023
(continued)

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in
substantial changes to the Bank’s accounting policies and had no material effect on
the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements

These financial statements are the separate financial statements of the Bank. The
Bank is exempted from the preparation of consolidated financial statements as the
Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCBC, a Singapore-incorporated Bank which
produces consolidated financial statements available for public use. The registered
office of OCBC where the consolidated financial statements can be obtained is as
follows: 63 Chulia Street, #10-00 OCBC Centre East, Singapore 049514.

Revenue
(a) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the
effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset or amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating the interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not
credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial
assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(b) Fee and commission income and expense

Fees and commissions are earned from a range of services rendered to its
customers. Fees and commissions are recognised when performance
obligations to provide the services to the customer has been satisfied.
Transaction based fees and commissions are generally recognised upon
the completion of a transaction. For services provided over a period of time
or credit risk undertaken, fees and commissions are amortised over the
relevant period.

14
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

22

2.3

Material accounting policies information (continued)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

Fee and commission income and expense (continued)

Expenses are offset against gross fees and commissions in the income
statement only when they are directly related.

Group accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Bank has control. The Bank controls an entity when the Bank is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses in the balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the
investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Acquisitions

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations entered into by the Bank.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business
comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Bank. The consideration transferred also
includes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing
equity interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Bank recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

15
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2.3

2.4

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Group accounting (continued)

(b) Acquisitions (continued)

The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (ii) fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

FProperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost
that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The projected cost of dismantlement, removal or restoration is recognised as part
of the cost of property, plant and equipment if such obligation is incurred either when
the item is acquired or as a consequence of using the asset during a particular
period.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already
been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance
expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable
amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated usefu! lives are as follows:

Useful lives
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture, fittings and computers 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property,
plant and cquipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the changes arise.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the
disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

16
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2,

2.5

2.6

2.7

Material accounting policies information (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses, represents the excess of
(i) the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.
Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately on the balance sheet and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets

Customer relationships and core deposits

Customer relationships and core deposits acquired by the Bank, which have finite
useful lives, are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These cost are
amortised to the statement of comprehensive income using the straight-line method
over 10 years, which is their estimated useful lives.

The amortisation period and amortisation method of intangible assets are reviewed
at least at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income when the changes arise.

Impairment of non-financial assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may
be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to
the Bank as one cash generating unit (‘“CGU").

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of the CGU,
including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU. The
recoverable amount of the CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less
cost to sell and its value-in-use.

The total impairment loss of the CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the
CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.

An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

17

Confidential



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2,

2.7

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Subsidiaries, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective
evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the
higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined
on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows
that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case,
the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is
recognised as an impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive
income.

For an asset other than goodwill, management assesses at the end of the
reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment
recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of that asset is estimated
and may result in a reversal of impairment loss. The carrying amount of this
asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets

(a)

Classification and measurement

The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following measurement
categories:

e Amortised cost;
e Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); and
¢ Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

The classification depends on the Bank’s business model for managing the
financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal
and interest.

At initial recognition

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the
following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

« the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOC/

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

« the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flow and selling financial assets; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are SPPI.
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2. Material accounting policies information (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Classification and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition (continued)

Lquity investments at FVOCI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the
Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in
the statement of comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at

amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Classification and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition {(continued)

Business model assessment

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in
which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed, and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of
those policies in practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy
focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash
flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the
Bank's management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the
financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy of how
those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the
contractual cash flows collected); and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity. However,
information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part
of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing
the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is
evaluated or managed on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL
because they are neither within the business model to hold the assets to
collect contractual cash flows, nor within the business model to hold the
financial assets both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell.
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2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value
of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideralion for lhe lime value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment,
the Bank considers:

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.qg.
non-recourse loans); and

¢ features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g.
periodical reset of interest rates).

At subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is
subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or
impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest
income using the effective interest rate method.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Classification and measurement (continued)

At subsequent measurement (continued)

Debt investments at FVOCI

Debt investments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated in fair
value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains
and losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.

Equity investments at FVOC/

The Group has elected to recognise changes in fair value of equity securities
not held for trading in OCI as these are strategic investments and the Group
considers this to be more relevant. Movements in fair values of investments
classified as FVOCI are presented as “Net gain on equity investments at
FVOCI, net of tax” in OCI. Dividends from equity investments are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income as “dividend income”.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet
the criteria for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are classified as
FVTPL. Movement in fair values and interest income is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it arises,

Reclassification
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition,

except in the period after the Bank changes its business model for managing
financial assets.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(b)

Recognition and derecognition

Loans and advances and deposits are recognised on the date they originate.
All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales
of financial assets) are recognised on trade date — the date on which the
Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assels dare derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the
asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in
profit or loss.

On disposal of a debt investment, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Any amount previously recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying
amount and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no
election made to recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive
income. If there was an election made, any difference between the carrying
amount and sales proceed amount would be recognised in other
comprehensive income and transferred to retained profits along with the
amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for
derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised as a
separate asset or liability.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Modification of financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank evaluates
whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In
this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial
asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

e Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset
and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are
included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

e Other fees are included in statement of comprehensive income as part of
the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then
the objective of the modification is usually to maximise recovery of the
original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms.

If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in
forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the
asset should be written off before the modification takes place (see Note 2.8
(d) for impairment policy). This approach impacts the result of the
quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not
usually met in such cases.

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the
original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in statement of comprehensive
income. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate
used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current
market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and
fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of
the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of
the modified financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the
borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses.
In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method.
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Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment

Under FRS 109, the expected loss model is applied to financial assets
classified as amortised cost or debt investments at FVOCI, except for equity
investments at FVOCI, and certain off-balance sheet loan commitments and
financial guarantees which were previously provided for under FRS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Expected credit loss (“ECL") impairment model

Under FRS 109, credit loss allowances are measured on each reporting
date according to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model:

e Stage 1 — On initial recognition and at a subsequent reporting date,
where there is no significant increase in credit risk, the expected credit
loss will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the
next 12 months (“12-month ECL").

e Stage 2 — When there is a significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition, the expected credit loss will be that resulting from
default events that are possible over the expected life of the asset
(“Lifetime ECL").

e Stage 3 — When a financial asset exhibits objective evidence of
impairment and is considered to be credit-impaired, the credit loss
allowance will be the full lifetime expected credit loss (“Lifetime ECL").

Measurement

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are
measured based on the cash shortfalls as elaborated below:

(a) Financial assets that are not credit-impaired (Stage 1 and Stage 2) at
the reporting date: The present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the cash
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract less the cash flows
that the Bank expects to receive);

(b) Financial assets that are credit-impaired (Stage 3) at the reporting date:
The gross carrying amount less the present value of cash flows that the
Bank expects to receive;

(¢) Undrawn loan commitments: The contractual cash flows that are due to
the Bank if the commitment is drawn down less the cash flows that the
Bank expects to receive; and

(d) Financial guarantee contracts: The expected payments to reimburse the
holder less any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.
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2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment (continued)
Measurement (continued)

The key inputs used in the measurement of ECL are:

o Probability of default (“PD”) — This is an estimate (as a percentage) of
the likelihood of default over a time period such as one year or the
exposure’s expected life time.

e Loss given default (“LGD”) — This is an estimate (as a percentage) of the
loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the Bank would expect to
receive, including from any collateral.

e Exposure at default (“EAD”) — This is an estimate (as an amount) of the
exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes
in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of
principal and interest as well as expected drawdowns on committed
facilities.

For Stage 1 exposure, ECL is calculated by multiplying 12-month PD by
LGD and EAD. For Stage 2 and Stage 3 exposures, ECL is calculated by
multiplying lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

Loans to customers that are collectively assessed are grouped on the basis
of shared credit risk characteristics such as loan type, industry, geographical
location of the borrower, collateral type and other relevant factors

All key inputs (PD, LGD and EAD) used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2
credit loss allowances are modelled based on three macroeconomic
scenarios (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely
correlated with credit losses in the relevant portfolio.

The three macroeconomic scenarios represent a most likely “Base”
outcome, and two other less likely “Upside” and “Downside” scenarios.
These scenarios are probability-weighted and underlying key
macroeconomic assumptions are based on independent external and in-
house views. The assumptions are subject to regular management reviews
to reflect current economic situations.

Each macroeconomic scenario used in the expected credit loss calculation
includes a projection of all relevant macroeconomic variables used in the
models for the lifetime period, reverting to long-run averages generally after
3 to 5 year periods. Depending on their usage in the models,
macroeconomic variables are projected at a country or more granular level
which differ by portfolio. The primary macroeconomic variables adopted are
Gross Domestic Product, Unemployment rate, Property Price Index and
Interest rate.
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2.8

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment (continued)
Measurement (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Default definition

An obligor is recognised to be in default when evidenced by either of the
following:

s when the obligor is unlikely to rectify any margin excess immediately
when the net asset value of collateral portfolio is in negative position; or

¢ when the obligor is unlikely to repay in full its credit obligations, without
recourse by the Bank to actions, such as realising the collateral; or

e days past due for more than 90 days

A financial asset is considered to be no longer in default when there is an
established trend of credit improvement, supported by an assessment of the
borrower’s repayment capability, cash flows and financial position.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off against their related impairment allowances
when all feasible recovery actions have been exhausted or when the
recovery prospects are considered remote.
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Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment (continued)
Movements between Stages

Movements between Stage 1 and Stage 2 are based on whether an
instrument’s credit risk as at the reporting date has increased significantly
since its initial recognition.

The Bank considers both qualitative and quantitative parameters in the
assessment of whether this is a significant increase in credit risk. These
include the following:

(a) The Bank has established thresholds for significant increases in credit
risk based on both a relative and absolute change in lifetime PD relative
to initial recognition;

(b) The Bank conducts qualitative assessment to ascertain if there has been
significant increase in credit risk; and

(c) The Bank uses 30 days past due as a further indication of significant
increase in credit risk.

Movements between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are based on whether financial
assets are credit-impaired as at the reporting date. The determination of
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired under FRS 109 will be based on
objective evidence of impairment.

The assessments for a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and credit-impairment are performed independently as at each
reporting period. Assets can move in both directions through the stages of
the impairment model. After a financial asset has migrated to Stage 2, ifit is
no longer considered that credit risk has significantly increased relative to
initial recognition in a subsequent reporting period, it will move back to Stage
1. Similarly, an asset that is in Stage 3 will move back to Stage 2 if it is no
longer considered to be credit-impaired.

A modification of the terms of a financial asset that does not result in
derecognition will result in the financial asset being transferred out of Stage
3 if the indicators of it being identified as credit-impaired is no longer met
and that the evidence for its transfer out of Stage 3 solely relates to events
such as up-to-date and timely payment occurring in the subsequent periods.

If a modified financial asset results in derecognition, the new financial asset
will be recognised under Stage 1, unless it is assessed to be credit-impaired
at the time of the modification.
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210

2.1

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment (continued)
Regulatory framework

Under the revised MAS 612 Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning (‘“MAS
612”) requirement, the Bank has the option to maintain a minimum
regulatory loss allowance (“MRLA”) of 1% of the gross carrying amount of
selecled credit exposures, net of collaterals. Where the accounting loss
allowance of selected non-credit-impaired exposures computed under FRS
109 is less than the MRLA, the Bank shall maintain the difference in a non-
distributable regulatory loss allowance reserve (“RLAR”) account through
the appropriation of accumulated profits. Where the aggregated accounting
loss allowance and RLAR exceeds the MRLA, the Bank may transfer the
excess amount in the RLAR to retained earnings.

Derivative financial instruments

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date
the contract is entered into and is subsequently carried at its fair value. Changes in
its fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under
FRSs, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Bank’s trading activity.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. These financial guarantees are given to other parties such as
other banks and financial institutions, on behalf of customers to secure loans,
overdrafts and other banking facilities.
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Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial guarantees (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs and subsequently measured at the higher of:

(a) amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of FRS 115, and

(b) the amount of expected loss allowance computed using impairment
methodology under FRS 109.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, are
initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently
carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled, or have expired.

Modification of financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
consideration paid is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then
the amortised cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash
flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate
used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market
terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised
as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.
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Material accounting policies information (continued)

L eases

When the Bank is a lessee

At the inception of the contract, the Bank assesses if the contract contains a lease.
A contract contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Reassessment is
only required when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

Right-of-use assets

The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date which the
underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
which comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives
received. Any initial direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had
not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-
of-use asset or the end of the lease term.

Right-of-use assets are presented within “Property, plant and equipment” in the
balance sheet.

Lease liabilities

The initial measurement of a lease liability is measured at the present value of the
lease payments discounted using the implicit rate implicit in the lease, if the rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank shall
use its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Lease liability shall be remeasured when:

- There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index
or rate;

- There is a change in the Company’s assessment of whether it will exercise an
extension option; or

- There are maodifications in the scope or the consideration of the lease that were
not part of the original terms.

Lease liability is remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2.14

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liabilities are presented within “Other liabilities” in the balance sheet.
Short-term and low-value leases

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases that have lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value leases. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount
expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the balance sheet.

Deferred income tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:

e Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction;

o Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint arrangements to the extent that the Bank is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the timing difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future; and

e Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against the temporary differences can be utilised.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or expense in the profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.
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2.15

2.16

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Provisions

Provisions for other liabilities and legal claims are recognised when the Bank has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount has been reliably estimated.

Employee compensation

Compensation package for slall consisls ol base salaries, allowances, defined
contribution plans such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), defined benefit
plans, commissions, cash bonuses, and share-based compensation plans. These
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred, unless
the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset and share-based compensation is
recognised over the vesting period of the grant, with corresponding amount due to
the holding company. Employee leave entitlements are estimated according to the
terms of employment contract and accrued on balance sheet date.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Bank
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity such as the CPF on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Bank has no further payment obligations once
the contribution have been paid. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the statement of
comprehensive income in the periods during which services are rendered by
employees.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined
contribution plan. The Bank’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods;
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of any plan
assets is deducted.

The Bank determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined
benefit liability (asset).
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Material accounting policies information (continued)

Employee compensation (continued)

Defined benefit plan (continued)

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a credit rating
of at least AA that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Bank’s
obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits are
expected to be paid. Credit rating of at least AA is defined where obligor's capacity
to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Bank, the recognised
asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In
order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to
any minimum funding requirements that apply to any plan in the Bank. An economic
benefit is available to the Bank if it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on
settlement of the plan liabilities.

Remeasurements from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if
any, excluding interest). The Bank recognises them immediately in other
comprehensive income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in
employee benefits expense in statement of comprehensive income.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of
the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the gain or loss on
curtailment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the plan amendment
or curtailment occurs. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of
a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

The gain or loss on settlement is the difference between the present value of the
defined benefit obligation being settled as determined on the date of settlement and
the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made
directly by the Bank in connection with the settlement.

Share-based compensation plans

Share-based compensation plans include the holding company’s Employee Share
Purchase Plan (‘ESPP”). Equity instruments granted are recognised as an expense
in the statement of comprehensive income based on the fair value of the equity
instrument at the date of the grant. The expense is recognised over the vesting
period of the grant, with corresponding entries to the amounts due to the holding
company.
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2.16

2.17

2.18

219

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Employee compensation (continued)

Share-based compensation plans (continued)

At each balance sheet date, the Bank revises its estimates of the number of equity
instruments expected to be vested, and the impact of the change of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to the amount due to the holding company over the
remaining vesting period.

Currency translation

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$"), which is
the functional currency of the Bank. All financial information presented in United
States Dollars have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currencies”)
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates as the date of
the transaction. Currency exchange differences resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at historical cost are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include balances and placements with and loans to banks and amounts
due from holding company with a maturity of 3 months or less, repayable on
demand, money at call and on short notice which are subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account.
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2,

2.20

2.21

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Dividends
Interim dividends on ordinary shares are recorded in the year in which they are

declared payable by the Board of Directors. Final dividends are recorded in the year
when the dividends are approved by the shareholder at the annual general meeting.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date that takes place in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects
its non-performance risk.

The Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that identical instrument held by another party. A market is
regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation
techniques that maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the
use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is
normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or
received). If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from
the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an
active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) nor based on a
valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently,
that difference is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation
is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
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2,

2.21

2.22

Material accounting policies information (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the
Bank measures assets and long positions at the bid price, and liabilities and short
positions at the ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities exposed to market risks and
credit risks that are managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either
market risks or credit risks are measured on the basis of the price that would be
received to sell a net long position (or paid lu bansler a net short position) for a
particular risk exposure.

Portfolio-level adjustments (e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that
reflect the measurement on the basis of the net exposure) are allocated to the
individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit)
is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that
the amount could be required to be paid.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the
balance sheet date during which the change has occurred.

The preparation of financial statements requires the Bank to make certain estimates
and to form judgements about the application of its accounting policies. The most
significant areas where estimates and judgements have been made are set out
below.

Prior vear comparatives

Certain prior year comparatives have been reclassified to be consistent with current
year presentation.
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Impairment of goodwill

The Bank performs an annual impairment review and whenever events or
circumstances that indicates more likely than not that an impairment may have
occurred by comparing the carrying amount of its goodwill against the recoverable
amounts of the CGU to which the goodwill has been allocated.

As disclosed in Note 11, the Bank uses valuation techniques such as value-in-use
to determine the recoverable amount. Value-in-use of the CGU is calculated based
on the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGU'’s continuing operations using the discounted cash flow method. Management
exercises its judgement in estimating the future cash flows, growth rates and
discount rates used in determining the recoverable amounts of the CGU.

Impairment of financial assets

A forward-looking expected credit loss impairment model is applied to financial
assets classified at amortised cost or FVOCI. The Bank exercises judgement in
determining the key assumptions in the expected credit loss impairment model
including the incorporation of forward looking information and determination of
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets since initial recognition based
on criteria described in Note 2.8. In addition, in determination of whether a financial
asset is credit impaired, the Bank also exercises judgement in assessing the
existence of objective evidence of impairment.

4, Net interest income

Interest income comprises interest arising from balances and placements with and
loans to banks, amount due from holding company, amount due from related
companies and loans and advances to non-bank customers. Interest income on
these financial assets that are classified as amortised cost or FVOCI are calculated
using the effective interest method.
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4, Net interest income (continued)
Interest expense comprises interest incurred on deposits of non-bank customers,
deposits and balances of banks, amount due to holding company, amount due to
related companies and others.

2023 2022
USs$’000 US$'000

The breakdown of interest income is as follows:

- Holding company 916,132 260,413
- Others 846,701 475,087
1,762,833 735,500
The breakdown of interest expense is as follows:
- Holding company 34,432 16,033
- Related companies 807 238
- Others* 1,151,398 312,649
1,186,637 328,920
Net interest income 576,196 406,580

* Included in ‘Others’ is interest expense arising from the lease liabilities
undertaken by the Bank.

5. Net fee and commission income
2023 2022
uUss$’o00 UsS$'000
Portfolio and other management fees 113,554 127,347
Custodian and trust fees 52,625 51,900
Brokerage fees income 164,265 165,381
Other fees income 58,036 73,892
Fee and commission income 388,480 418,520
Brokerage fees expenses 5,733 7,087
Other fees expenses 99,853 86,306
Fee and commission expense 105,586 93,393
Net fee and commission income 282,894 325,127
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6. Net trading income
2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
Foreign exchange 159,699 164,394
Equity 41,189 40,589
Others 256 497

201,144 205,480

7. Staff costs

Note 2023 2022
Us$’000 uUs$'000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 395,559 362,595
Contributions to defined contribution plans 19,720 16,198
Contributions to share-based compensation

plans 25 659 843
Defined benefit plan 26(ii) 225 235
Others 25,770 23,258

441,933 403,129

8. Other operating expenses
2023 2022
uUs$’000 US$'000

Recharge of expenses by holding company(" 104,901 96,758
Advertising and marketing 9,063 4,265
Other taxes and duties 9,476 6,921
Communication and information technology 19,961 22,733
Lease expenses relating to short-term leases 3,683 3,384
Travel and hotel expenses 7,025 4,373
Professional fees 14,861 14,776
Maintenance and hire of property, plant and

equipment 2,617 1,815
Directors’ fees 110 94

Lease expenses relating to leases of low value
assets, excluding short-term leases of low value

assets 174 109
Others 3,617 11,220
175,388 166,448

M Included in the recharge of expenses by holding company is an amount of
US$9,988 thousand (2022: US$6,761 thousand) relating to rental of premises.
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9. Income tax expense

Note

Current income tax expense
Current year
Overprovision in prior years

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary

dilferences 23
Total income tax expense

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
59,910 39,681
(2,547) :
57,363 39,681
(114) 591
57,249 40,272

The tax on profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the Singapore standard rate of income tax as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17%
(2022: 17%)

Effect of concessionary tax rate at 13.5%*

Effect of different tax rates in overseas branches

Overprovision in prior years

Non-deductible expenses

Others

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
414,624 277,254
70,486 47,133
(9,144) (6,810)
(991) (664)
(2,547) -
1,921 3,137
(2,476) (2,524)
57,249 40,272

* The Bank’s profit derived from certain Financial Sector Incentive activities are
subject to income tax at a concessionary tax rate of 13.5% (FY2022: 13.5%)

under Section 43J of the Income Tax Act.

10. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

2023 2022
Us$’000 UsS$'000
96,815 79,414
55,748 37,215
152,563 116,629
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Furniture,
Leasehold fittings and Motor
improvements  computers vehicles Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 us$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2023 34,617 164,161 586 199,364
Additions 63 38,366 161 38,590
Disposals (4,725) (713) (114) (5,552)
At 31 December 2023 29,955 201,814 633 232,402
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 27,896 91,706 348 119,950
Depreciation charge for the year 1,462 19,574 153 21,189
Disposals (4,725) (713) (114) (5.552)
At 31 December 2023 24,633 110,567 387 135,587
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 5,322 91,247 246 96,815
Cost
At 1 January 2022 31,634 187,336 571 219,541
Additions 3,660 21,929 104 25,693
Disposals (677) (45,104) (89) (45,870)
At 31 December 2022 34,617 164,161 586 199,364
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022 24,684 118,670 290 143,644
Depreciation charge for the year 3,889 18,140 134 22,163
Disposals (677) (45,104) (76) (45,857)
At 31 December 2022 27,896 91,706 348 119,950
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 6,721 72,455 238 79,414

43

Confidential



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

10.

11.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Property Others Total
US$'000 us$'000 US$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2023 78,769 69 78,838
Additions 27,567 - 27,567
Termination of lease (682) (69) (751)
105,654 - 105,654

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 41,557 66 41,623
Depreciation charge for the year 9,031 3 9,034
Termination of lease (682) (89) (751)

49,906 - 49,906
Carrying amounts
Balance as at 31 December 2023 55,748 - 55,748
Cost
At 1 January 2022 95,693 69 95,762
Additions 1,127 - 1,127
Termination of lease (18,051) - (18,051)

78,769 69 78,838
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022 44,264 32 44,296
Depreciation charge for the year 15,044 34 15,078
Termination of lease (17,751) - (17,751)

41,557 66 41,623
Carrying amounts
Balance as at 31 December 2022 37,212 3 37,215
Goodwill

2023 2022
Us$’000 UsS$000

At 1 January and 31 December 167,764 167,764

Impairment test for goodwill

For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Bank which is identified as one
cash generating unit. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-
use calculations which applies a discounted cash flow model using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management
covering a five-year period. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
are derived from the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital plus a reasonable risk
premium at the date of assessment. Cash flows beyond the fifth year are
extrapolated using the terminal growth rates (weighted average growth rate to
extrapolate cash flows beyond the projected years).
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11. Goodwill (continued)

The terminal growth rate used does not exceed management’s expectation of the
long term average growth rate of the industry and countries which the Bank
operates. The discount rate and terminal growth rate used is tabulated below:

2023 2022
% %
Discount rate 10.8 8.3
Terminal growth rate 2.0 2.0
12. Intangible assets
Customer
relationships

and core

deposits

uS$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2023 / 31 December 2023 58,979
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2023 35,879
Amortisation charge for the year 5,898
At 31 December 2023 41,777
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 17,202
Cost
At 1 January 2022 / 31 December 2022 58,979
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2022 29,981
Amortisation charge for the year 5,898
At 31 December 2022 35,879
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 23,100
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13. Subsidiaries

At 1 January

Disposal

Less: Impairment of subsidiary
At 31 December

Name of subsidiaries

BOS Trustee Limited
BOS Nominees (Hong Kong) Limited

BOS Wealth Management Limited

BOS Wealth Management Europe, S.A.

BOS Investment Consulting &

Management Company Limited (China)

BOS Wealth Management Malaysia
Berhad

Note

18

Country of
incorparation/Principal
place of business

Singapore
Hong Kong
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
People's

Republic of China

Malaysia

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
27,614 28,094

(227) -
. (480)
27,387 27,614

Effective equity

2023
%

100

100

100

100

100

2022
%

100

100

100

100

100

100

The principal activities of BOS Trustee Limited are those of trustees, executors,
administrators, receivers, attorneys and agents.

The principal activities of BOS Nominees (Hong Kong) Limited are those of
nominees and trustees companies.

The principal activities of BOS Wealth Management Limited, BOS Wealth
Management Malaysia Berhad and BOS Wealth Management Europe, S.A. are the
provision of investment advisory services.

The principal activities of BOS Investment Consulting & Management Company
Limited (China) are the provision of investment advisory services. The entity was
incorporated on 26 March 2022, with a cost of investment amounting to US$707
thousand. At the Meeting of Member of BOS Investment Consulting & Management
Company Limited (China) held on 8 July 2023, a special resolution for members’
voluntary winding up of the Company is passed.

Confidential

46



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

14, Unconsolidated structured entities

The below describes the types of structured entities that the Bank and its
subsidiaries do not consolidate.

Details of the unconsolidated structured entities are as follows:

Country of
Name of unconsolidated structured entities incorporation
BOS International Fund Luxembourg

The Bank acts as the investment manager of the unconsolidated structured entities
and earns a management fee based on a fixed percentage of the aggregate value
of the capital commitment made by shareholders. It does not participate in the
profits of the Funds. Capital commitments to the Master Funds are entirely from
third-party investors. The Bank does not provide any funding nor make investment
into the Master Fund or Feeder Fund and the Bank has no contractual obligation to
do so.

The management fee earned for the year was approximately US$1,010 thousand
(2022: US$2,780 thousand).
15. Cash and balances with central banks

2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000

Balances with Monetary Authority of Singapore

(“MAS") 133,837 149,511

Balances with Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(“HKMA”) 4,084 6,454
137,921 155,965

Balances with MAS include the mandatory minimum cash balance in compliance
with MAS Notice 758 which is not available for use in the Bank's day-to-day
operations.
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16. Balances and placements with and loans to banks

Note 2023 2022
UsS$’000 US$000
Gross balances and placements with and
loans to banks 203,280 301,773
Less: loss allowances 18 (59) (176)
203,221 301,597

Included in balances and placements with and loans to banks are margin
rcccivables from third party brokers of approximately US$15,787 thousand (2022:
US$100,244 thousand) and an amount of approximately US$185,896 thousand
(2022: US$201,529 thousand) which is repayable on demand or money at call, of
which US$185,896 thousand (2022: US$201,529 thousand) are cash balances
which has been included in cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash

flows.
17. Loans and advances to non-bank customers
Note 2023 2022
uUs$’000 UsS$’000
Gross loans and advances to non-bank
customers 14,664,002 18,280,297
Less: loss allowances
- credit-impaired loans (64,923) (58,356)
- non credit-impaired loans (9,312) (12,688)
18 (74,235) (71,044)
14,589,767 18,209,253
18. Write-back/(Loss) allowances
The loss allowances balance set out as follows:
Note 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
Balances and placements with and loans to
banks 16 59 176
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 17 74,235 71,044
Subsidiaries 13 - 480
Amount due from related companies - 1,536
Total loss allowances balance 74,294 73,236
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18.

Write-back/(Loss) allowances (continued)

Movements of loss allowances are set out as follows:

At 1 January 2023

Remeasurement

Transfer to Stage 1

Transfer to Stage 2

Transfer to Stage 3

New financial assets originated or
purchased

Financial assets that have been
derecognised

Foreign exchange and other
movements

Recognised in profit or loss

Write-offs

Interest recognised on impaired
loans

At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2022

Remeasurement

Transfer to Stage 1

Transfer to Stage 2

Transfer to Stage 3

New financial assets originated or
purchased

Financial assets that have been
derecognised

Foreign exchange and other
movements

Subsidiaries

Amount due from related
companies

Recognised in profit or loss

Interest recognised on impaired
loans

At 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
UsS$’000 uUs$’000 us$’000 US$’000
12,809 55 60,372 73,236
(1,545) 139 (55) (1,461)
21 (21) - -
(107) 107 - -
- (16) 16 -
72,903 268 734 73,905
(75,113) (358) (1,250) (76,721)
212 17 567 796
(3,629) 136 12 (3,481)
- - (3,354) (3,354)
- - 7,893 7,893
9,180 191 64,923 74,294
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
14,820 2 6,915 21,737
(468) 27 1,753 1,312
(32) 32 - -
_ (6) 6 i
99,730 154 99,279 199,163
(100,960) (155) (51,005) (152,120)
(281) 1 (535) (815)
_ . 480 480
- - 1,536 1,536
(2,011) 53 51,514 49,556
- - 1943 1,943
12,809 55 60,372 73,236
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18.

19.

Write-back/(Loss) allowances (continued)

The following tables set out information about the credit quality.

Balances and placements with and loans to banks

Pass
Less: loss allowances
At 31 December 2023

Pass
Less: loss allowances
At 31 December 2022

Loans and advances to non-bank customers

Pass

Special mention
Substandard

Doubtful

Less: loss allowances
At 31 December 2023

Pass

Special mention
Substandard

Doubtful

Less: loss allowances
At 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
203,120 160 - 203,280
(57) (2) = (59)
203,063 158 . 203,221
295,330 6,443 . 301,773
(172) (4) - (1786)
295,158 6,439 - 301,597
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
14,427,926 - - 14,427,926
- 129,018 - 129,018
- - 36,825 36,825
- - 70,233 70,233
(9,123) (189) (64,923) (74,235)
14,418,803 128,829 42 135 14,589,767
18,129,039 - - 18,129,039
- 75,184 - 75,184
- - 11,491 11,491
- - 64,583 64,583
(12,637) (51) (58,356) (71,044)
18,116,402 75,133 17,718 18,209,253

Amounts due from/(to) holding company and related companies

The amounts due from/(to) holding company and related companies comprise
current account balances and placements with and borrowings from these entities,
including interest receivables or payables. The amounts due from holding company
and related companies include balances totalling approximately US$6,682
thousand (2022: US$4,387 thousand), which are repayable on demand or money
at call, and which have been included in cash and cash equivalents in the statement

of cash flows.
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20. Other investments
2023 2022
uUs$’000 US$'000
FVTPL financial assets:
- Quoted debt securities - 84
- Unquoted debt securities* 138 -
- Unquoted fund investment 1,625 119
FVOCI financial assets:
- Other government securities 654,323 770,592
656,086 770,795
Other government securities relate to United States treasury bills held. The credit
quality of the treasury bills are of investment grade, indicating good capacity to meet
financial commitments with low credit risks by the obligor.
* Issued by holding company
21. Other assets
2023 2022
Us$’000 uS$'000
Interest receivables 47,701 40,322
Sundry debtors 71,853 73,816
Physical precious metals 738,050 958,606
Security trade receivables 248,534 267,463
Others 43,232 41,322
1,149,370 1,381,529
22, Share capital, other equity instruments and other reserves

Share capital

2023 2022
No. of shares No. of shares
000 Us$’000 '000 US$'000
Issued and fully-paid:
Ordinary shares 977,268 996,377 977,268 996,377

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Bank. All
shares rank equally with regards to the Bank’s residual assets. The ordinary shares
have no par value.
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22,

Share capital, other equity instruments and other reserves (continued)

Share capital (continued)

On 31 July 2023, the Bank declared an interim dividend of US$120,000 thousand
(2022: $200,000 thousand) for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, which
was paid on 23 August 2023.

The Bank did not declare a final dividend (2022: $84,000 thousand) for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023.

Other equity instruments

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

USD 200 million 4.75% non-cumulative perpetual
capital securities (“Capital Securities™) 200,000 200,000

The Capital Securities issued by the Bank on 11 December 2015 are non-
cumulative perpetual capital securities. They qualify as Additional Tier 1 Capital
under the MAS Notice on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks
incorporated in Singapore (“MAS Notice 637”). The Capital Securities can be written
down in whole or in part if the Bank is determined by MAS to be non-viable.

The Capital Securities may, subject to MAS approval, be redeemed at the option of
the Bank, at any time, for taxation reasons or if the Capital Securities would not
qualify as Additional Tier 1 capital or would not qualify as eligible capital in the
calculation of the capital adequacy ratio.

The Capital Securities bear a fixed distribution rate of 4.75% per annum from the
issue date. The non-cumulative distributions may only be paid out of distributable
reserves semi-annually in June and December, unless cancelled by the Bank at its
option. The Capital Securities constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations,
ranking pari passu among themselves.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank made a distribution
of US$9,606 thousand to its equity holders (2022: US$9,606 thousand).

Other reserves

2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
Fair value reserve 422 (3,166)
Regulatory loss allowance reserve 8,000 8,000
Total 8,422 4,834
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22,

23.

24,

Share capital, other equity instruments and other reserves (continued)

Other reserves (continued)

The fair value reserve is the cumulative net change in the fair value of FVOCI
financial assets until the investments are derecognised or impaired and the
revaluation attributable to actuarial remeasurements arising from the Bank’s defined

benefit plan.

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset deferred income tax assets against deferred income tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

At 1 January
(Credited)/Charged to profit or
At 31 December

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Others

Other liabilities

Accrued operating expenses
Interest payables

Defined benefit plan

Lease liabilities

Physical precious metals
Others

Note 2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
6,205 5,614
loss 9 (114) 591
6,091 6,205
6,513 6,590
2,421 3,251
(2,843) (3,636)
6,091 6,205
Note 2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
119,660 100,904
181,640 93,115
26 2,671 1,947
59,652 40,120
749,120 938,049
319,963 332,936
1,432,706 1,507,071
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24,

25,

Other liabilities (continued)

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and interest expense. Interest
expense incurred is charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the
lease term, which amounted to US$3,093 thousand (2022: US$1,143 thousand) for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023, as disclosed below.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis,

as disclosed in Note 2.13.

Principal Non-cash changes
and Foreign 31
1 January interest Interest exchange December
2023 payments | Additions | Termination expense movement 2023
Us$’000 US$’000 US$'000 Us$’000 uss$’ooo Us$’000 Us$’000
Lease
liabilities 40,120 (10,492) 27.567 3,093 (636) 59,652
Principal Non-cash changes
and Foreign 31
1 January interest Interest exchange December
2022 payments Additions Termination expense movement 2022
US$'000 Us$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US§'000
Lease
liabilities 54.373 (15.695) 1.127 (17) 1,143 (811) 40,120

Employee benefits
Share-based compensation plans

In July 2023, the OCBC Bank (the “Group”) launched its sixteenth offering of ESP
Plan for Group employees, which commenced on 1 September 2023 and will expire
on 31 August 2025. Under the offering, the Bank granted rights to acquire 1,147,749
(2022: 1,250,251) ordinary shares in OCBC Bank, The fair value of rights,
determined using the binomial valuation model was US$650 thousand (2022:
US$840 thousand)

2023 2022

Acquisition price (US$) 9.45 9.00

Share price (US$) 9.81 9.13
Expected volatility based on last 250 days historical

volatility as of acceptance date (%) 12.97 16.51

Risk-free rate based on 2-year swap rate (%) 3.36 2.45

Expected dividend yield (%) 4.91 4.05
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25.

26.

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based compensation plans (continued)

Movements in the number of acquisition rights of the ESP Plan are as follows:

2023 2022
Number of Number of
acquisition acquisition

rights  Average!" rights Average"”

At 1 January 2,090,991 2,552,381
Subscriptions 1,147,749 1,250,251
Forfeited/lapsed (267,633) (338,361)
Exercised (942,652) (1,373,280)
At 31 December 2,028,455 2,090,991
Share price US$9.31 US$8.84

() Average price was computed without adjusting for the effect of rights issue.

At 31 December 2023, the weighted average remaining contractual life of
outstanding acquisition rights is 1.21 years (2022: 1.22 years).

The related share-based compensation expense for the year amounted to US$659
thousand (2022: US$843 thousand).

Defined benefit plan

These are plans applicable to staff located in the Manila Representative Office. The
Bank makes contribution to a non-contributory defined benefit plan that provides
retirement benefits for employees upon retirement. Previously, the contribution was
made by the former holding company, without recharge to the Bank. The plan
entitles a retired employee to receive a lump sum payment based on 150% of plan
salary per year of credited service. Annual contributions are paid to the fund at a
rate necessary to adequately finance the accrued liabilities of the plan calculated.

Note 2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
Fair value of plan assets (i) (1,002) (1,748)
Present value of defined benefits obligations (ii) 3,673 3,693
Total defined benefit plan 2,671 1,947
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26. Defined benefit plan (continued)
(i Fair value of plan assets

Plan assets comprise the following:

2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
Equity securities 202 209
Fixed income 794 979
Others 6 558
1,002 1,746

Movement in fair value of plan assets are set out as follows:

2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
Fair value of plan assets assumed 1,746 1,785
Benefits paid by the plan (739) 9)
Actual return on plan assets 169 100
Return on plan assets less discount rate (174) (130)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 1,002 1,746

(i) Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations is set out

as follows:
2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000
Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 3,693 3,760
Benefits paid by the plan (739) 9)
Current service costs and interest 394 336
Remeasurements: experience adjustments 140 162

Remeasurements: actuarial loss from
changes in assumption 185 (556)
Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 3,673 3,693
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26. Defined benefit plan (continued)

(i) Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations (continued)

Expenses recognised in profit and loss

Note 2023 2022

uUs$’000 US$'000
Current service costs 191 199
Interest on obligation 203 136
Return on plan assets (169) (100)
Total defined benefit plan expenses 7 225 235
Actual return on plan assets (5) (30)
Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:

2023 2022
% %

Discount rate at 31 December 6.25 7.25
Expected return on plan assets at 1 January 6.75 6.50
Future salary increases 4.00 4.00

Actuarial valuations are made based on information of current members of

the plan as follows:

2023
Average annual plan salary (US$) 56,292
Average age 40.34
Average credited service 9.11
Average future working life years 14.39

2022

60,680
40.34
8.54
14.40

As of the year end, the Bank is expected to pay US$2,737 thousand (2022:

US$2,272 thousand) in contributions to its defined benefit plan.
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27.

28.

Contingent liabilities

In the normal course of its banking business, the Bank issues guarantees and
standby letters of credit. Guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make
specific payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument, while standby letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to

third parties on production of documents.

2023 2022
uUs$’000 US$'000
Direct credit substitutes:
- Guarantees 35,290 29,398
- Standby letters of credit 386,864 394 775
422,154 424 173
Commitments
2023 2022
uUs$’000 us$000
Undrawn credit lines and other commitments to
extend credit 44,129,875 47,881,699
Forward loans 108,544 725,932
44,238,419 48,607,631

Undrawn credit lines and other commitments to extend credit relate to loans,
overdrafts, leverage loans and guarantee facilities. Drawdown of these credit lines
and commitments are subject to provision of adequate collaterals acceptable to the

Bank.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank’s contractual commitments amounted to

US$8,339 thousand (2022: US$13,004 thousand).
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29. Derivative financial instruments

The table below sets out the notional principal amounts, positive and negative fair
values of the Bank’s outstanding derivative financial instruments at balance sheet
date. Positive and negative fair values represent the mark-to-market values of the

derivative contracts.

Notional
principal Positive Negative
amounts fair values fair values
US$'000 Us$000 US$'000
2023
Foreign exchange derivatives:
Spot and forward foreign exchange 28,950,877 219,246 341,078
Currency options 32,604,668 159,702 159,702
61,555,545 378,948 500,780
Equity derivatives:
Options 2,950,980 87,793 87,793
Interest rate derivatives:
Swaps 768,052 16,226 16,226
Options 44,000 199 199
812,052 16,425 16,425
Commodity derivatives:
Precious metals — bought 521,748 7,510 1,863
Precious metals — sold 517,261 1,901 7,333
Commodity options 8,707,472 75,700 75,700
9,746,481 85,111 84,896
75,065,058 568,277 689,894
2022
Foreign exchange derivatives:
Spot and forward foreign exchange 18,429,898 219,840 201,551
Currency options 44,491,830 289,289 289,289
62,921,728 509,129 490,840
Equity derivatives:
Options 2,750,082 94,192 94,192
Interest rate derivatives: _
Swaps 1,139,904 33,637 33,637
Options 11,000 189 189
1,150,904 33,826 33,826
Commodity derivatives:
Precious metals — bought 272,862 6,392 180
Precious metals — sold 267,283 192 6,302
Commodity options 6,455,589 55,150 55,150
6,995,734 61,734 61,632
73,818,448 698,881 680,490
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29,

30.

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The below foreign exchange, equity, interest rate and commodity derivatives

include financial instruments entered into with the holding company:

Notional
principal Positive Negative
amounts fair values fair values
Us$'000 Us$'000 Uss$'oo0
2023
Foreign exchange derivatives 32,886,376 140,037 358,631
Equity derivatives 1,475,490 3,181 84,612
Interest rate derivatives 406,026 13,916 2,509
Commodity derivatives 4,632,714 11,694 69,891
39,400,606 168,828 515,643
2022
Foreign exchange derivatives 31,766,516 179,082 302,018
Equity derivatives 1,365,239 4,456 87,457
Interest rate derivatives 515,452 31,024 2,802
Commodity derivatives 3,234,362 4,613 51,299
36,941,569 219,175 443,576

Related party transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related
to the Bank if the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or
exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Bank and the party are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other

entities.

Significant related party transactions have been disclosed throughout the financial
statements, except for the key management personnel compensation which is as

follows:
2023 2022
Us$’000 US$000
Key management personnel compensation:
- Short-term employee benefits 10,393 12,895
- Post-employment benefits 267 242
- Other long-term benefits 3,077 4633
13,737 17,770

Compensation paid to key management personnel includes salaries, bonuses,
defined contribution plans, defined benefit plan, share-based compensation plans
and other benefits-in-kind. Key management personnel comprise members of the

Management Committee and direclors of the Bank.
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31.

Financial risk management

Exposure to market, credit, liquidity and operational risks arise in the normal course
of the Bank’s business. Market risk includes foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk. The Bank has written risk management policies and guidelines which set out
its overall business strategies, its tolerance of risk and its general risk management
philosophy and has established processes to monitor and control the hedging of
transactions in a timely and accurate manner.

The Bank is in principle not involved in clean lending. All loans are fully secured.
Hence, collateral management next to assessment of borrower quality is essential.

Credit extensions to our private banking and wealth management clients are subject
to a comprehensive credit assessment, setting of limits, as well as continuous risk
monitoring. Joint approvals from the business and risk units also ensure objectivity
in credit extensions. Loan advance rates are dependent on the quality, liquidity, and
diversification of the collateral portfolio. Credit exposures that are secured by
marketable securities are subject to daily valuation and independent price
verification.

The Bank uses analytical tools to ensure that the value of securities collateral nearly
always remain higher than the outstanding loan. Appropriate stress tests are
performed, and models used are subjected to independent validation.

Certain risk measures have been defined to reflect the risk appetite of the Bank.
The Board has approved certain limits which reflect the overall approved risk
appetite for the Bank. Risk management monitors to ensure that the risk exposures
are controlled and kept within the approved limits set by the Bank.

(i Market risk

Market risk is the risk that movements in market prices, such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will adversely affect the
value of its holdings of financial instruments, which are valued at current
market prices (mark-to-market basis) and those valued at amortised cost
plus any accrued interest. The Bank's market risk arises from customer-
related businesses. In principle, the Bank does not have proprietary trading
book.
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31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Market risk (continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange exposure comprises those which arise from
foreign exchange dealing within treasury and currency exposures
originated from the private banking business. The exposure,
resulting from gain/loss not denominated in the Bank’s functional
currency is managed within the limits approved by its holding
company. There are limits on foreign exchange net open position
(“FX NOP”) on per currency basis as well as on total currencies
combined basis, which is calculated by aggregating the absolute
sum of the net long currency positions or sum of the net short
currency positions, whichever is greater. The following are the FX
NOP on total currencies combined:

31 31
December Average December Average
2023 utilisation 2022 utilisation

us$’000 Us$’000 US$'000 US$'000

FX NOP 1,033 865 981 1,165

The table below summarises the Bank’s financial instruments at
carrying amounts, categorised by currencies. The off-balance sheet
gap represents the difference between the contract/underlying
principal amounts of derivatives, which are principally used to reduce
the Bank’s exposure to currencies movements.

62

Confidential



|e13u3pLU0D

€9
€CEVL6L  92T'eL9 €LLalg Lcl (9ce’Lee’L) 68L'9¥8'C uonisod jau J9ays aouejeq-uQ
088°L6S'GE  LSL'6LL . 6€S'86C L  161'8T 1S0'v.0Y  2LB'LIv'Ce [EloL
€90'¥Ze’L  €T8'YS 01598 - ocl'oe 009°9vL°L Saliget| 12u10
¥68°689 ¥96°GL Lv'ee : vyl 622685 sjuswnisul [eloueul sAeAlleq
gz8'se 99¢C L = 9.5'8 z88'LL S9luedWwoo psjefss 0} SNp Junowy
\¥2'L/8 896°¢29 0r8's = 8L9'gce gL8clL Auedwos Buipjoy 0} anp Junowy
Lz'ee : B8LL = D zev'le $)UBq JO S9ouUEleq puE s)isodsQ
919'6¥9'2¢ 0€0'220'L 29L28L'L  161'82 €.2'66L'c  ¥56'L19'02 $3Wo}sno yueqg-uou jo sysodag
sanljiqel] jeloueuid
€/1'99G'/€ //€'TSP'8  TGOV/QL  8LE'8T GZL'2SL'T  101'8ST'Se [eloL
veg'oLL'L  Sog'er vco'ee - 8/2'ee 195910} s}esse 1syiQ
980959 - - - - 980'959 SjusWisSSAUl IBYIO
L1/T'89S ¥96°SL LvZ'ee - vsy'L CL9'L9Y sjuswinygsul [epueul sAjeAllsd
12L's 6el - . Z6L'L 0B.L'¢ s3juedwod peje(al Wol anp Junowy
9¥6'882'0C 0¢8'9LS'L  60T'VCl - 90£'8.G 119'690'81 Auedwiod Bulpjoy woy snp junowy
19/'68G'¥lL 998'6LL'9 0.6'QL¥'L € €G8'CLY'L  950'086'% SI19W0IsSNJ JUE]-UOU 0} S3OUBAPE PUE SUBOT
RAAX A €€T'96 8LsClL 98z'ge G08't 6.£'%9 $)Ueq 0} SUBO| pue Yiim sjuswsde|d pue ssoueleg
126'LEL - 780'Y E le8'cel = SHUEQ |E]jUSD YIm saoUE[R] puB yse)
sjesse [eloueul
€20¢

000.$sSN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$sN 000.$SN
jeloL 13410 aXH JAN ass asn

(panunuo9) ysu Asualno ublalo-

()

(ponunuod) ysu joxuepy (1)

(panupuod) Juswsbeuew ysu [eloueUL

Le

€202 19quiadag L papua 1eaA jeloueul) oY) 104
SLIN3INILVLS TVIONVNI4d 3HL Ol S31ON

Q311NN FHOdVONIS 40 MNVE



e1uapyuod

9
Gs6'Ly.'L  (091'96) 88G'695 g9 (L/6'TLB'L) €£¥'L8L'E uonisod jau Jaays aduejeq-uQ
£65'¢68'9¢ €0¥'62L'8 020'69F'L  962'9Z 9/L'v6Y ¥ 869'%..°CC [ejol
Zer'GLP'L  $08'Sh 60519 0z2 09g'LE 6£G'9/C'L sanIqe]| JBYIO
061'089 vGl'eEl zzL'el - 8/6') 9£9'G2S sjusWINJIsul [elouBUL SABALIRT
G02'92 808'L L - G6e'8 L00'9L so[uedwod psjejal 0} anp JuNowy
9¢/'918'L  8£8'PSZ'L  8/8'90L - 1/8'GeS 6i7L'6L1L Auedwoo Buipjoy o} enp junowy
L¥2'6Z - - - = 1¥2'6T Syueq Jo seoueleq pue susodag
£8¥'GZ3'2¢ 66L'€69'9 0LG'182'L 92092 T/G'9LLY  921'808'02 SJaWojsno yueg-uou jo sysedaq
sanliqe)| [eloueuld
8YG'GEQ'QE €pC'€E0'8 8098S0C 1L9€'9T GOZ'L8GC LEL'966'GT lejol
L69PPEL  ¥LG'8E 8/1'v¢E 0ze G/.'8l ¥e0'esT’L sjesse 1ayi0
G6.'0L. s = = = G6.'0LL SIUBWISOAUL JISYIO
188'869 ¥GL'eCl zzL'6l - 8/6') 120'v¥S SJUSWINIISUL [BIOUBUY SABALIRQ
162, 0t = - polele ¥19'9 so[uedwoo pajejal Woy anp junowy
690°'/¥LLL $E2'128'L  0ZL'L¥L - 080'r¥8 geL'ove'vl Auedwod Bujpjoy woly snp Junowy
€GZ'602'8L 96¥'9€6'G  9/2'L9.'L 6 1GL'¥9S°L  SLL'9ve's SI3WOJSND YUBQ-UOU 0} S80UBAPE pUE SUBOT
/65'L0€ GL9'z0l 8Gt'9/ zelL'oe 18G°L L18'v6 syueq 0} SUBO| pue Ypm sjuswaoe|d pue sadueleg
G96'GGL - ¥S¥'9 8 LLG'6YL - Sueq [euD Ym saoueleq pue yse
S}osse [eloueulq
2202

0004$SN  000$SN  000.$SN  000.4$SN  0004$SN  000.$SN
|ejoL SEe) aMH HAN ass asn

(panuiuod) ysu Aoualino ublelo

e \

.

(panupuod) ysu joxep (1)

(panunuod) Juswabeuew Ysu [eloueul]

Le

£202 19quia09(J L& poapus J1eaA jejoueul) 8y] JO
SINIINILVLS TVIONVYNId 3HL OL S3LON

Q3 LINIT FHOdVONIS 40 YMNvd



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(i Market risk (continued)
(b) Interest rate risk

As interest rates and yield curves change over time, the Bank may
be exposed to a loss in earnings due to the effects of interest rates
on the structure of the balance sheet. Sensitivity to interest rates
arises from mismatches in the repricing dates, cash flows and other
characteristics of the assets and their corresponding liabilities
funding. These mismatches are actively managed by the Bank under
limits approved by the holding company. In managing the structural
interest rate risk, the primary objective is to limit the extent to which
net interest income could be impacted by an adverse movement in
interest rates.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i

(ii)

Market risk (continued)
(b) Interest rate risk (continued)

The Bank monitors its banking book’s interest rates exposure by running a
daily interest rates sensitivity report, which measures the interest rate
sensitivity per basis point rate shock. The following are the exposures of all
currencies combined:

31 31
December Average December Average
2023 utilisation 2022 utilisation
Us$’000 US$°000 US$'000 US$'000
Interest rate sensitivity (51) (38) (66) (9)
Credit risk

Credit risk is managing the potential risk of financial loss resulting from the
failure of a customer or counterparty to settle their financial and contractual
obligations to the Bank as and when they fall due.

Credit risk is constantly assessed, measured and managed in accordance
with the Bank’s Credit Risk Management policies. Limits are established for
each customer that has a credit facility from the Bank. The Bank typically
takes collateral to secure amounts due under credit facilities granted to its
customers. Collaterisation is also assessed specifically at a customer level.

Borrowing customers are classified as Pass, Special Mention, Substandard,
Doubtful and Loss, in accordance with MAS Notice 612. The Bank has an
established process for early identification of possible changes in the
creditworthiness of customers and takes corrective action as appropriate.
As part of the corrective action, the Bank may restructure facilities,
renegotiate loan terms, or as final resort, repossess collateral. Once facilities
have been restructured or renegotiated, accounts are reviewed regularly by
management to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are
likely to occur. These loans continue to be subjected to close monitoring for
identification of objective evidence of impairment and if considered to be
credit-impaired, assess the loss allowances required.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31. Financial risk management (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral and other credit enhancements

The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk of
on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments, without taking
into account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-
balance sheet assets, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying
amount. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the
instruments issued are called upon. For commitments, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the lower of full amount of the advance value of
collaterals less total liabilities or undrawn credit facilities granted to

customers.

2023 2022
US$’000 uS$'000
Credit risk exposure of on-balance sheet
assets:
Cash and balances with central banks 137,921 155,965
Balances and placements with and loans to
banks 203,221 301,597
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 14,589,767 18,209,253
Amount due from holding company 20,288,946 17,147,069
Amount due from related companies 5,121 7,297
Derivative financial instruments 568,277 698,881
Other investments 656,086 770,795
Other assets 1,116,834 1,344,691
37,566,173 38,635,548
Credit risk exposure of off-balance sheet
items:
Contingent liabilities 422,154 424173
Commitments 44,238,419 48,607,631
44,660,573 49,031,804
Total credit risk exposure 82,226,746 87,667,352
69

Confidential



[e13UBPYUOD

0L
'spuejs| UIBiIA ysijug pue eolyy apnjoul sidyio,

9v1'922°'Z8 112°8£6'6)L 096'8.Ev  £8£°0Z 969'6¥6C £99°952 £11°289'vS lejol
BLY'8ETYY 6.0GZLPL €8G'89€'C  ¥96'CL 90.'82L’L  GGL/61 Z£6'v0Y'Se SjUsLIWLIOD
vGl'zey rAWANA 002'9 - £61°08 - Rz saiiqe)| usbunuo)
ve8'9LL'L  8LE'LS 6SY L1 8G¢ ££T'2e8 Al 122'02¢ sjesse Jayj0
980959 G/8 - LG - = 09Y'S9 SIUSWIISaAUI JaYl0
112'895 z95'0Z1L €L2'0¢ - 1/8'6E 05l G/¥' 1€ SusWINIISUI [e1oUBUL SABALIRQ]
va_m - - - = - _\Nr,m wm_chEoo pajejal Woll anp junouwy
9v6'882'0Z - 5 - - - 9¥6'882'02 Auedwod Buipjoy woly anp junowy
/9/'685'vL  110'T2¥'Ss  1/1'6E6 9£0'2 LLL'yL8 0.£'.LS 950's5¢e", SISWOJSNI }UBG-UOU O} SBOUBAPE PUE SUEBO™
1zz'c0z 906 9ze'ee v22'S 0.G'vS cvl 00¥'0ZL SHueq 0] SUBO| pue Ypm sjuswisoeld pue seoueleg
1Z6'2€1 g » - = - Lze'lel syueq [B1jUSD UM S8oUBleq pue Yse)

€202

000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000:$SN
210l SIBYlO 1se3 eolIBuy mno._:m_ wiry eIsy
SIPPIN YHON alloed

:suoibal [eoiydelboalb Buimoj|ol

ay] Aq pasAjeue aq ued JUSWSIUBYUS JIPaIo JBYJ0 10 p|ay |elaleljod Aue junodoe ojul Bupe} alojeq ‘ainsodxa sl }paJd sueg ayjl

3SH 1IPa4d 0] ainsodxa wnuwixew ay} JO SUOIIRIJUIIUOD YSIY

(PaNURUOD) XSU JIp8ID

()

(ponunuos) Juswabeuew )y sii [eloueUl

L€

£202 19qLuI209(J LS popua JeaA [ejoueul 8y} 104
SININILVILS TVIONVYNI4 3HL OL S31ON

G3LINIT J-¥0dVONIS 40 MNVvd



[e13UaplU0D)

L.

'Spuejsj UIBJIA ysilug pue edauyy spnjoul Sisyi0,
25€',99'/8 G/9'91G'7C 860'%8.'G  S59'/.8 818'/62'¢  119'852 G61'266' 1S lejoL
1€9'209'8y /9€'9rL'SL €S¥'Z0LY 0/6'LT TE6'T90'L  Z1E'ThlL 165'9/0'82 SjusWWWoD
eLL'vey v.lv'eST 000'9 - 6£€'0S o 09E'vLL sanlliqel| uabuiuod
L6Q'PPE' L 985'V6 96.'8 78l 119'690°L 60T gse'LLL sjesse J2yi0
§62'0LL A J LL2'0LL ¥ 2 = sjuswisaAUl JBYI0
188'869 152'¢91 ¥65'Cy - y8e'ey = 9r9'shy sjuswinuisul [eloueuly sAeAlg
162, - - = - - 162'L souedwod paje|al Woly anp Junowy
690'L¥L'LL - - - i - 690°2¥1'L1L Auedwod Buipjoy woly anp junowy
€5¢'602'8L G¥0'/68'9  L9T'L6S'L  0€T'9 L¥S'0v6 0€L'v9 #€0'06.'8 SISWOISNJ JUEQ-UOU O} SEOUBAPE PUE SUEOT]
165'10¢ 966'L 886'9C 09581 1z6'0g) 096l 2l el S$¥ueq 0} SUEO| pue yym sjuswaoeld pue seoueleg
§96'SG1 = - = = . G96'SS 1 syueq [eJjUSD UM S92UBJE] PUE Yse)

A A4
000.4$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN 000.$SN  000.$SN
|e1o] SI”2Ul0 lse3q edllauly mao._:m Wiy e[sy
SIPPIN UHON oyioed

:suolbai |esiydelBoab Buimojol

ay} Aq pashjeue aq ueo jusuaoUBYUS JIPaLD JSYI0 JO p|ay |elsle]jod Aue Junodde oul Bupie) 81ogeq ‘einsodxe ysu JpaId syueq oy |

(Panunuo?) ysu Npald 0} ainsodxa wWNWIXeul 3y} JO SUOIJR.IUIIUOD YSIY

(Panunuod) ysu Jipaln ()

(penunuod) Juswsbeuew ¥su |eoueul{  °Le

€202z 18quada( L& pepus Jeak [eioueul) 8y] o4
SININI1VLS TVIONVYNI4 3HL Ol S31ON

Q3LININ FHOdVYONIS 40 MNVE



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (continued)
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
Credit risk exposures by counterparty type are presented in the table below:

Gross Net Gross Net
maximum maximum  maximum maximum
exposure exposure exposure exposure

2023 2023 2022 2022
USsS$’000 Us$’000 US$'000 Us$'000

Individuals and corporates 59,278,768 - 66,705,526 -
Banks/financial institutions 22,293,655 22,293,655 20,191,234 20,191,234
Governments 654,323 654,323 770,592 770,592

82,226,746 22,947,978 87,667,352 20,961,826

The gross maximum exposure is before the effect of mitigation through the
use of master netting and collateral agreements. The exposures to
individuals and corporates are generally secured through the use of
collateral agreements and result in no net exposure to credit risk. Net
maximum exposure to banks/financial institutions and Governments
represent clean loans for which the Bank does not take any collateral and
other credit enhancements to mitigate its credit risk less any allowances for
loans.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depends on the assessment of
the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the
acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

Cash (deposits or current accounts)

Debt securities

Structured notes/mutual funds

Equities

Mortgages over properties

Charges over insurance policies

Banker's guarantees/standby letters of credit
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality per class of financial assets by geographical regions

MAS Notice 612 requires the Bank to categorise credit facilities into

respective credit grades as follows:

2023

Asia

Pacific Rim

Europe

North America

Middle East

Others

Gross loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Loss allowances
Net loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Balances and placements
with and loans to banks

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

Total

2022

Asia

Pacific Rim

Europe

North America

Middle East

Others

Gross loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Loss allowances
Net loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Balances and placements
with and loans to banks

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

Total

Special
Pass mention  Substandard  Doubtful Total

US$'000 us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
7,366,950 52,875 9,466 - 7,429,291
57,370 - - - 57,370
771,525 30,951 11,641 - 814,117
2,036 - - - 2,036
930,737 8,440 - - 939,177
5,299,308 36,752 15,718 70,233 5,422,011
14,427,926 129,018 36,825 70,233 14,664,002
74,235
14,589,767
203,221 . - 203,221
442 154 - - - 422,154
44,100,644 68,154 43,295 26,326 44,238,419
59,453,561

Special
Pass mention  Substandard  Doubtful Total

US$'000 Us$'000 UsS$'000 US$'000 uS$'000
8,799,805 19,683 1,590 - 8,821,078
64,130 - - - 64,130
930,646 - 9,901 - 940,547
6,230 - - - 6,230
1,570,484 19,324 - 1,459 1,591,267
6,757,744 36,177 - 63,124 6,857,045
18,129,039 75,184 11,491 64,583 18,280,297
71,044
18,209,253
301,597 - 301,597
424,173 - - 424,173
48,457,324 33,643 2,208 114,456 48,607,631
67,542,654
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)
Loans and advances to non-bank customers by industry:
2023 2022

uUs$’000 Us$'000
Analysed by industry

Manufacturing 47,326 48,870
Building and construction 391,318 219,921
General commerce 41,586 54,487
Transport, storage and communication 25,004 22,341
Business service 69,614 83,701
Financial institutions, investment and holding

companies 6,985,307 8,807,084
Professionals and individuals 7,088,322 9,024,096
Others 15,625 19,797

14,664,002 18,280,297

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition at each balance sheet date. Determining whether an
increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the
financial instrument and the borrower.

Credit risks of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased

significantly since initial recognition if they meet the following criteria:

e special mention;

s 30 days past due; or

e obligors who exhibits potential weaknesses, which may adversely affect
the repayment by the obligor at a future date, in meeting financial
obligations.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly (continued)

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument
returns to being measured as 12-month ECL.

Incorporation of forward looking information

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the
assessments of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased
significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.

Periodically, the Bank carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to
calibrate its determination of the upside and downside representative
scenarios. A comprehensive review is performed at least annually on the
design of the scenarios by a panel of experts that advises the Bank’s senior
management.

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Techniques

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the following variables:
e Probability of default (“PD");

e Loss given default (“LGD”); and

e Exposure at default (‘EAD").

These parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models
as developed based on historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-
looking information.

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation at the time of default, either over the next 12 months (“12M PD"),
or over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime PD”) of the obligation. PD estimates
are derived from PD models that incorporate both quantitative and
qualitative inputs, which are in turn derived from internal and external
compiled data.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(if)

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Techniques (continued)

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss incurred during a default. LGD is
expressed as a percentage of loss per unit of exposure at the time of default
and represents an estimate of the economic loss in the event of the default
of the counterparty. Factors in determining LGDs includes claim seniority,
availability and quality of collateral, legal enforceability processes in the
jurisdiction and industry of borrower and existing market conditions. They
are estimates at a certain date and are derived using statistical models.
These statistical models are developed using internally compiled data and
incorporate both quantitative and qualitative factors. The model outputs are
adjusted to reflect forward-looking information whenever appropriate.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank
derives the EAD based on the current exposure to the counterparty and
potential future exposure. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying
amount.

The ECL is determined by the PD, LGD and EAD for each individual
exposure. The ECLs are first determined by the product of these three
components, which are then adjusted to take into account forward-looking
information. The ECLs are finally discounted to the balance sheet date. The
discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate
or an approximation thereof.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31. Financial risk management (continued)

(il

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Techniques (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following

observable data:

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

e a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past
due;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the
Bank would not consider otherwise;

e it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficulties.

There are no other significant credit losses recognised except as disclosed
in Note 18.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to service its cash flow
obligations. Throughout the year, the Bank, in conjunction with the Group,
manages liquidity risk within the approved limits by a combination of positive
cash flow management, the maintenance of portfolios of high quality liquid
assets and diversification of its funding base through its holding company.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ror the financial year ended 31 December 2023

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements

The following table is a summary of financial instruments for which carrying
amounts do not approximate fair value.

2023 2022
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
us$’000 Us$’000 US$'000 US$000
Financial assets
Loans and advances to

non-bank customers 14,589,767 14,504,620 18,209,253 18,090,131
Amount due from holding
company 20,288,946 20,725,657 17,147,069 17,318,775

Financial liabilities
Deposits of non-bank

customers 32,649,616 32,624,521 32,925,483 32,862,270
Amount due to holding
company 871,241 863,975 1,816,736 1,804,531

Where possible, fair values of financial instruments have been estimated
using market prices. Where market prices are not available, values have
been estimated using quoted prices for financial instruments with similar
characteristics, or otherwise using suitable valuation techniques where
practicable to do so. The fair value information presented represents the
Bank's best estimate of those values and may be subject to certain
assumptions and limitations. Although management has employed its best
judgement in the estimation of fair values, there is inevitably a significant
element of subjectivity involved in the calculations. The fair values presented
in the table set out above are at a specific date and may be significantly
different from the amounts which will be actually paid or received on the
maturity or settlement date.

The methodologies and assumptions used in estimating fair values for those
financial instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the
financial statements depend on the terms and risk characteristics of the
various instruments and include the following:

Financial instruments for which the carrying amount approximates fair
value

These financial instruments include balances with banks, government
securities, other investments, derivatives, call deposits by banks and non-
bank customers, interest receivables and payables, and short term amounts
due from and to holding company and related companies. The carrying
amount of these financial instruments is an approximation of the fair value
because they are either (i) carried at market value, (ii) short-term in nature
or reprice frequently, or (iii) are receivable or payable on demand.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)

Loans and advances to non-bank customers, amount due from holding
company and amount due from related companies

The fair value is principally estimated by discounting anticipated cash flows.
The discount rates applied are based on the current interest rates of similar
loans to borrowers with similar credit ratings.

Deposits of non-bank customers, amount due to holding company and
amount due to related companies

Fair value is calculated using discounted cash flow models, based on the
deposit type and its related maturity, applying either market rates, where
applicable, or current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining
maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

® Level 1 — inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical instruments

° Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using:
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market
data.

s Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technigue includes inputs not based
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant
effect on the instrument's valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices or similar
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For
all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other
valuation techniques.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Other valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash
flow models comparison to similar instruments for which market observable
prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models and other
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other
premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price
volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement
that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to
transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair
value of common and more simple financial instruments, like interest rate
and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little
management judgement and estimation. Observable prices and model
inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities,
exchange traded derivatives and simple over the counter derivatives like
interest rate swaps.

Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need
for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty
associated with determination of fair values. Availability of observable
market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and
is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the
financial markets.

However, where the Bank measures portfolios of financial assets and
financial liabilities on the basis of net exposures, it applies judgement in
determining appropriate portfolio level adjustments such as bid-ask spread.
Such adjustments are derived from observable bid-ask spreads for similar
instruments and adjusted for factor specific to the portfolio.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement
is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as
the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level
3 being the lowest).
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as
of the end of the balance sheet date during which the change has occurred.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the financial year
(2022; no transfers).

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the
end of the balance sheet date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurement is categorised. The amounts are based
on the values recognised in the balance sheet.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$'000 US$000 US$H000 US$H000

2023

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 19,826 416,145 132,306 568,277
Other investments 654,323 138 1.625 656,086

Total 674,149 416,283 133,931 1,224,363

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 22,150 535,438 132,306 689,894

Total 22,150 535,438 132,306 689,894

2022

Financial assets

Derivative financia!l instruments 12,806 548,626 137,449 698,881
Other investments 770,592 84 119 770,795

Total 783,398 548,710 137,568 1,469,676

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 12,705 530,336 137,449 680,490

Total 12,705 530,336 137,449 680,490
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Movement and assumptions used in Level 3 fair value

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 financial assets and
financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date:

Financial
assets at
FVTPL
US$'000
1 January 2023 137,568
Loss recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading
income" (3,637)
31 December 2023 133,931
Change in unrealised gain for assets held at the end of the
financial year included in profit or loss, under “Net frading
income” (3,637)
Financial
assets at
FVTPL
uUsS$'000
1 January 2022 238,737
Loss recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading
income" (101,169)
31 December 2022 137,568
Change in unrealised gain for assets held at the end of the
financial year included in profit or loss, under “Net trading
income” (101,169)
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)

Movement and assumptions used in Level 3 fair value (continued)

1 January 2023

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
Us$000

137,449

Gain recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading

income"

31 December 2023

Change in fair value

1 January 2022

(5,143)
132,306

(5,143)

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
UsS$'000

238,610

Gain recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading

income"

31 December 2022

Change in fair value

(101,161)
137,449

(101,161)

The following table shows the Bank’s valuation technique used in measuring
the financial assets in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable input

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs

Adjusted net assets Net asset value ("NAV") of the
financial assets

method

Option Pricing
model

Volatility/Correlation

The estimated fair value
would increase (decrease) if
the NAV of the financial
assets increased
(decreased).

The estimated fair value
would increase (decrease) if
the volatility increased
(decreased).

Changing one or more of the inputs to reasonable alternative assumptions
would not change the value significantly for the financial assets in Level 3 of

the fair value hierarchy.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

31.

Financial risk management (continued)

(vi)

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and
financial liabilities that:

@ are offset in the Bank’s balance sheet pasition; or

° are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of
whether they are offset in the balance sheet.

The similar agreements include derivative clearing agreements, global
master repurchase agreements, and global master securities lending
agreements. Similar financial instruments include derivatives, sales and
repurchase agreements, reverse sale and repurchase agreements, and
securities borrowing and lending agreements. Financial instruments such as
loans and deposits are not disclosed in the tables below unless they are
offset in the balance sheet.

The Bank’s derivative transactions that are not transacted on an exchange
are entered into under International Derivatives Swaps and Dealers
Association (“ISDA”) Master Netting Agreements. In general, under such
agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty that are due on a
single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the same currency
under the agreement are aggregated into a single net amount being payable
by one party to the other. In certain circumstances, for example when a
credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding transactions under the
agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a
single net amount is due or payable in settlement of all transaction.

The above ISDA and similar master netting arrangements do not meet the
criteria for offsetting in the balance sheet. This is because they create a
right of set-off of recognised amounts that is enforceable only following an
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparties.
In addition, the Bank and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net
basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The Bank places and receives collateral in the form of cash margins in
respect of derivative transactions.

Such collateral is subject to the standard industry terms of ISDA Credit
Support Annex. This means that securities received/given as collatera! can
be pledged or sold during the term of the transaction but must be returned
on maturity of the transaction. The terms also give each counterparty the
right to terminate the related transactions upon the counterparty’s failure to
post collateral.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

32.

33.

New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

There are no mandatory standards and interpretations to existing standards that
have been published and are relevant for the Bank’s accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and which the Bank has not early adopted.

Authorisation of financial statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a

resolution of the Board of Directors of Bank of Singapore Limited on 1 February
2024,
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

MAS NOTICE 608 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Capital

The main objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure the Bank complies
with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. The activities
are executed on the basis of established policies, guidelines and procedures.

The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using the rules and ratios established by
the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS") in supervising the Bank.

The Bank had complied with the minimum 8% and 10% for Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
(“CAR”) and Total CAR respectively required by MAS Notice 637 in 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022

US$ million US$ million

Tier 1 capital
Ordinary shares 996 996
Perpetual securities issued 200 200
Disclosed reserves 1,006 775
2,202 1,971
Tier 1 eligible capital 1,949 1,687
Tier 2 capital 1 1
Total eligible capital 1,950 1,688
Risk weighted assets 9,867 11,358
Tier 1 CAR 19.8% 14.9%
Total CAR 19.8% 14.9%

The supplementary information above does not form part of the financial statements.
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